Policy Research

WORKING PAPERS

Macroeconomic Adjustment and Growth

Country Economics Department The World Bank January 1992 WPS 838

Measuring Trade Policy Intervention

A Cross-Country Index of Relative Price Dispersion

Brian J. Aitken

Not only is it hazardous to characterize an inward-oriented country as interventionist and an outward-oriented country as liberal, but the characterization is simply wrong for developing countries. Whether a country intervenes does not tell the whole story about its trade policy, and misses an essential aspect of intervention: which goods are favored by subsidies and which are protected by tariffs.

Policy Research Working Papers disseminate the findings of work in progress and encourage the exchange of ideas among Bank staff and all others interested in development issues. These papers, distributed by the Research Advisory Staff, carry the names of the authors, reflect only their views, and should be used and cited accordingly. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions are the authors' own. They should not be attributed to the World Bank, its Board of Directors, its management, or any of its member countries. Policy Research



Macroeconomic Adjustment and Growth

WPS 838

This paper — a product of the Macroeconomic Adjustment and Growth Division, Country Economics Department — is part of a larger effort in the Department to estimate policy measures relevant for growth. The research was funded by the Bank's Research Support Budget, "How Do National Policies Affect Long-Run Growth?" (RPO 676-66) Copies of the paper are available free from the World Bank, 1818 H Street NW, Washington DC 20433. Please contact Rebecca Martin, room N11-053, extension 39065 (48 pages). January 1992.

In the debate about the relationship between trade policy and growth, various measures for trade intervention have been used. Aitken presents a new measure based on a country's relative price structure and the structure of relative world prices. This measure, he argues, conforms more closely than existing measures to the concept of trade intervention.

The relationship between "openness" and trade liberalization is more complicated than is often believed. Whether a country intervenes does not tell the whole story about its trade policy, and misses an essential aspect of intervention: which goods are favored by subsidies and which are protected by tariffs. Indonesia and Peru, for example, have comparable measures of intervention, but the relative price of equipment is very high in Peru and very low in Indonesia; consumer nondurables appear to flow freely in Latin America, while prices for these goods in Japan and Korea are inexplicably high. Understanding differences in the growth experience of these countries clearly requires a more subtle view of trade policy than "outward" and "inward" orientation, and a more informed understanding of the nature of intervention.

The debate has been confused by the failure to distinguish between trade intervention and outward orientation. Trade intervention implies policies that distort the flow or pattern of trade: outward orientation implies incentives to export that are greater than incentives for import substitution. The two may be related but a heavily interventionist policy could be outwardly oriented.

And a country could impose trade policies that raise the *average* incentive to export, while increasing the *dispersion* of incentives within the export and import sectors — so that when such a country liberalizes, trade might return to its original pattern but with incentives inwardly oriented.

The index of relative price dispersion that Aitken develops has the advantage that it is objective, measures intervention in both exports and imports, is comparable across countries, and is independent of fluctuations in exchange rates caused by macroeconomic mismanagement. Unlike average tariffs and measures of nontariff barriers and price levels, the relative price dispersion index measures incentive distortions *within* categories of goods.

The Leamer index looks directly at the effects of trade policy intervention, but the theoretical assumptions required to calculate the pattern of trade in the absence of distortion are questionable. Such assumptions are unnecessary when calculating relative price dispersion, as world prices are directly observable.

The Policy Research Working Paper Series disseminate the findings of work under way in the Bank. An objective of the series is to get these findings out quickly, even if presentations are less than fully polished. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions in these papers do not necessarily represent official Bank policy.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Problems with Commonly Used Trade Policy Measures
A Model of Relative Price Dispersion8
Relative Price Estimation11
Computing Relative Price Dispersion15
Comparing Relative Price Dispersion and Measures of Outward Orientation22
Comparisons of Relative Price Dispersion with other Intervention Measures .26
Conclusion
References
Appendix
Trade Policy Intervention and Outward Orientation

^{*}This Paper was written in association with the Macroeconomic Adjustment and Growth Division of the World Bank. I am grateful for comments and suggestions from John Anderson. Bill Easterly, Stan Fischer, Ann Harrison, and Lant Pritchett

In the debate over the relationship between trade policy and growth, a variety of measures of trade intervention have been used. In this paper, I present a new measure based on differences between a country's relative price structure and the structure of world relative prices, and argue that this measure conforms more closely than existing measures to the concept of trade intervention.

Trade policy debate has been confused by the failure to distinguish outward orientation from trade intervention. Trade intervention implies policies which distort the flow or pattern of trade (Edwards, 1989), while outward orientation implies that the incentives to export are greater than the incentives to import substitute (Kreuger, 1978). Trade intervention is often associated with outward orientation because the two may in fac⁺ be correlated: a restrictively interventionist trade regime can bias production against exports through an appreciated exchange rate (see Appendix). However, a highly interventionist trade policy that balances import restrictions with export incentives may be as "outwardly oriented" as completely liberalized economy. Also, A country may impose trade policies which raise the *average* incentive to export relative to import substitute while increasing the *dispersion* of incentives within the import and export sectors. When such a country liberalizes, trade may return to its original pattern but with incentives inwardly oriented.

Since intervention and outward orientation are distinct, an empirical relationship between outward orientation and growth does not imply the same relationship exists between intervention and growth. To test the effects of trade intervention on growth separate from the effects of outward orientation, one needs a satisfactory cross-country measure of trade intervention. The four most widely used measures of trade policy have been trade intensity, average tariffs and coverage ratio of NTB's, deviations in a country's trade pattern from that predicted by its factor endowments, and distortions in the real price level.

1 Problems with Commonly Used Trade Policy Measures

1.1 trade intensity

Trade intensity, defined for country j as

$$L_j = \frac{X_j + M_j}{GDP_j} \tag{1}$$

(with X_j being exports and M_j imports) is used as an indication of trade policy. A related measure, import penetration, is defined

$$L_j = \frac{M_j}{GDP_j} \tag{2}$$

These measures are often adjusted for "structural" factors by regressing the numerator of equation 1 or 2 on country specific variables such as area, income level, and CIF/FOB ratios, and redefining the measure as

$$L_j = \frac{\hat{r}_j}{GDP_j} \tag{3}$$

with \hat{r}_j being the residual from the regression.

Trade intensities and import penetration ratios, whether adjusted for "structural" factors or not, are simply not measures of trade intervention. A high trade share or import share may characterize either a liberal regime or an interventionist regime in trade balance with significant export subsidies (see the model in the appendix). Trade share is even unconvincing as a measure of outward orientation; it is notoriously unstable across time as well as across countries, more so than can believably be attributed to trade strategy¹.

1.2 adjusted price level

A second trade policy measure interprets the deviation of the aggregate price level of country j (p_j expressed in dollars) relative to the United States (p_{us}) from the level predicted by the "structural" relationship (with y_j being income per capita also in dollars)

$$\frac{p_j}{p_{us}} = 1 + \beta y_j + \epsilon_j \tag{4}$$

as a distortion reflecting trade policy (Dollar, 1990). A country's price level contains a nontraded price v hich differs systematically across countries with income, and a traded price, which differs from world prices only through trade policy restrictions. Increases in import restrictions can raise the price level of the economy by raising both the price of imported goods and of nontraded goods, biasing production against exports (see Appendix). But the resulting index does not measure intervention directly for the same reason as the trade share; interventions designed to keep the *average* tariff low while increasing the *variance* of traded goods prices will *lower* the price level. A low price level can be maintained even with a high average import tariff if exports are taxed. In this case the "adjusted" price level would fail as a measure of outward orientation as well; a low price level would be associated with a trade regime biased toward producing import substituting goods.

¹Helleiner (1990) finds that Korea, for example, went from an export share of GDP of 9% to 36% over a twenty year period

1.3 administrative measures

Administrative measures of trade regime include average tariffs and the percent of traded products covered by NTB's. These measures reveal nothing about intervention in the export sector, and neither are precise measures of the *effect* policy intervention on the flow of trade. The most important trade restriction for developing countries is import licensing, a restriction which is highly discretionary; a strictly enforced licensing requirement on one good could be more restrictive yet result in a lower coverage ratio than several goods with unenforced requirements. Average tariffs for imported goods fail as intervention measures by ignoring the dispersion of tariffs within a category of goods. Also, the two measures are not complementary; replacing a NTB with a high tariff as is common in liberalizing countries increases one measure of intervention while decreasing the other.

1.4 quantity measures

One can determine the seriousness of policy intervention by measuring the degree to which trade patterns are distorted from those occurring in the absence of intervention. Such a measure has the advantage of determining the *effects* of intervention, thus avoiding many of the problems with administrative measures. But the "normal" pattern of trade which would occur in the absence of intervention is not observable, and some theoretical assumptions must be imposed to recover this pattern.

Leamer (1989) measures deviations of actual trade patterns from those predicted by the country's endowment using a Hecksher-Ohlin factor intensity model. Although the most theoretically grounded of the measures of intervention, this index suffers from its reliance on a theory which has had questionable empirical success. In practice, the three intervention measures calculated by Leamer are only mildly correlated with one other (having rank correlations between 20 and 30 percent), suggesting the index should be treated with caution.

Since all these measures are emphasizing different aspects of trade strategy, it would be surprising if they were correlated with one another. Indeed they are not. In a recent paper, Pritchet (1991) searches for correlations between the measures described above, and finds a "complete absence of correlation among them". While Harrison (1991) finds that the relationship improves when trade policy measures are observed over time, the correlation remains weak. Measures commonly used to describe trade regime cannot all be characterizing the same aspect of trade policy intervention.

If intervention is defined in terms of its effects on trade flows, one can measure intervention either by observing trade patterns deviating from non-intervention patterns, as was discussed above, or by measuring deviations of relative prices from world relative prices; in the absence of price controls, any "distortion" in the pattern of trade will also result in a deviation of relative prices from the non-intervention price structure. While measures based on relative price distortions share the advantage quantity measures have of focusing on the effects of intervention, relative price-based measures have the added advantage that prices in the absence of trade distortions are directly observed in the world economy; provided there are no other major barriers to price arbitrage across countries (such as transportation costs and monopolies in the distribution of goods), and after allowing for systematic differences across countries in the cost of distributing goods, the prices for traded goods observed in an economy in the absence of trade barriers will equal the world prices.

Helleiner argues "there is usually no escape from difficult and costly product-by-product comparisons of domestic and world prices in search of 'tariff equivalents'" (1990). In this paper I perform such a comparison, measuring directly the degree to which policy intervention distorts the incentives within the traded sector. I will not be measuring the effects of intervention on the *average* price of traded goods relative to nontraded goods, as these effects are captured in measures of deviations of the price level; an import tariff on some goods which does not change the average tariff will distort relative prices from world prices but will not raise the price *level*, while a uniform tariff on imports matched by a uniform subsidy on exports will not distort incentives within the traded sector but will raise the price level (see Dollar, 1990, and the appendix).

2 A Model of Relative Price Dispersion

Consumption in the economy is divided between one nontraded and n traded goods. Price arbitrage in traded goods assures that the domestic price of a traded good can deviate from the world price only through trade intervention. The log domestic dollar price in dollars of traded good i in country j is

$$P_{ij} = P_i^* + \epsilon_{ij} \tag{5}$$

where P_i^* is the international price of the produced good and ϵ_{ij} represents the impact of the policy intervention (an import restriction or an export subsidy).

Traded goods, whether produced at home or imported, are not consumed in their produced form, but can only be consumed after being "distributed". Goods are transformed into "distributed goods" using a Leontieff production technology, where the inputs are the produced good and a fixed service requirement (the nontraded good) per unit of the distributed good. If goods are distributed with a constant marginal product in nontraded services, and if distribution is perfectly competitive, then the log of the dollar price of distributed good i in country j will be

$$p_{ij} = P_i^{\bullet} + \epsilon_{ij} + a_i \log P_{Nj} \tag{6}$$

where P_{N_J} is the domestic nontraded goods price in dollars and a_i is the unit service requirement. I assume the service requirement in the distribution of goods can vary across goods, but not across countries. The last assumption is for exposition; the results of this section hold provided the service requirement in distribution moves monotonically with the service price.

To allow for the possibility of nominal stickiness in the face on a nominal exchange rate fluctuations, equation 6 can be expressed

$$p_{ij} = P_i^* + \epsilon_{ij} + a_i (\log \dot{P}_{Nj} - \log e_j)$$
⁽⁷⁾

where \dot{P}_{Nj} is the domestic currency price of nonvraded goods and e is the nominal exchange rate expressed in dollars per unit of domestic currency.

According to equation 7, differences in prices of distributed goods from world production prices (P_i^*) are caused by the nontraded service component required to distribute the good, changes in the exchange rate (to the extent of nominal price stickiness), and trade distortions ϵ_{ij}^2 .

The effect of policy on prices can be isolated by subtracting the average distributed price from the distributed price p_{ij} in equation 7, and comparing this difference to the world price. Subtracting

²Other possible differences, such as are caused by monopolies in the distribution of goods will not be considered here. If distribution monopolies are not natural monopolies, but are caused by trade polices, the resulting price distortions can be safely attributed to intervention ϵ_{ij}

the mean distributed price gives the relative distributed price

$$p_{ij} - \bar{p_j} = P_i^{\bullet} - \bar{P_i^{\bullet}} + \epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j} + (a_i - \bar{a})(\log \hat{P}_{Nj} - \log e_j)$$
(8)

where \bar{p}_j , \bar{P}_i^* , $\bar{\epsilon}_j$ and \bar{a} are average values across goods within a country. The relative distributed price will be influenced by the exchange rate if nontraded prices adjust slowly and the nontraded service requirement of the good differs from the average.

Since world prices for "produced" goods are not directly observable, I subtract the relative distributed price defined in equation 8 for the United States from the relative price for country j^3

$$\rho_{ij} = p_{ij} - \bar{p}_j - (p_{iUS} - p\bar{U}_S) = \epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon}_j - (\epsilon_{iUS} - \epsilon\bar{U}_S) + (a_i - \bar{a})(\log \bar{P}_{Nj} - \log e_j - \log P_{NUS})$$
(9)

or rearranging terms

$$\rho_{ij} = A_i + (a_i - \bar{a}) \log \frac{P_{Nj}}{e_j} + \epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j}$$
(10)

where A_i is defined

$$A_{i} = \epsilon_{iUS} - \epsilon_{\bar{U}S} - (a_{i} - \bar{a}) \log P_{NUS}$$

If A_i and $a_i - \bar{a}$ could be identified, the effects of intervention on price (the term $\epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j}$ in equation 10) could be isolated. This term represents the deviation of the relative production price of good *i* in country *j* from world relative production prices.

³In the estimation, the weighted average of relative prices in OECD countries was substituted for the price in the United States, but the results were not changed.

3 Relative Price Estimation

Although I do not observe A_i and $a_i - \bar{a}$ directly, I can estimate them with cross-country regressions performed for each good *i*. The data used for estimation are drawn from the last phase of the Incomes Comparison Project, which consists of goods prices relative to the United States for 151 traded and nontraded goods based on detailed price and expenditure data from a cross section of 57 countries in 1980 (Kravis, Heston and Summers, 1982; United Nations, 1986). In order to ensure the plausibility of the assumption that a_i is the same across countries, I aggregate the original 151 traded and nontraded goods to a sample of 16 traded goods and one nontraded good (see table 1)⁴. Prices were computed for these 16 traded goods and two nontraded goods (rent and services/construction) as the expenditure-weighted averages of the original 151 prices. Extensive efforts have been made in producing these data to control for cross-country differences in quality such that prices are compared for the same good across countries.

3.1 biss from the impact of intervention on nontraded prices

If the dollar price of nontraded goods in country j is influenced by the average policy distortion ϵ_j , then estimating equation 10 using nontraded prices as an explanatory variable will bias the estimates of $a_i - \bar{a}$. The relationship between nontraded prices and average tariffs and subsidies in long run equilibrium is described in a detailed model in the appendix, but will be summarized here. An increase in the average import tariff or export subsidy shifts production towards the

⁴education and health care were dropped from estimation to avoid the difficulties of cross-country quality comparisons in these goods.

Consumer Goods:		Capital Goods:	
Good	Share	Good	Share
Food	0.30	Transportation	0.04
Tobacco & Beverage	0.07	Machines	0.08
Clothing	0.10	Agr. Machines	0.01
Fuel	0.03	Elec. Equipment	0.04
Household	0.06		
Appliance	0.01		
Medical	0.02		
Auto	0.04		
Auto Parts	0.05		
Recreate - Durable	0.03		
Recreate - Nondur	0.02		
Government	0.09		
Other	0.01		

 Table 1: Traded Goods Categories and World Expenditure Shares

 Consumer Goods:
 Capital Goods:

traded (import competing or exporting) sector while at the same time increasing the demand for and decreasing the production of nontraded goods. The excess demand for nontraded goods must be rationed with an increase in the price of nontraded goods. The increase is less than the increase in the policy measure since both supply and demand respond to an increase in nontraded prices.

This relationship introduces a potential bias into the estimation of equation 10. If the average distortion ϵ_j increases from a uniform increase in ϵ_{ij} across goods, then $\epsilon_{ij} - \epsilon_j$ remains orthogonal to P_{Ni} . If however distortions are concentrated on some goods, then $a_i - \bar{a}$ would be overestimated for those goods for which $\epsilon_{ij} - \epsilon_j$ increased and underestimated for the goods for which $\epsilon_{ij} - \epsilon_j$ decreased.

Estimation bias can be avoided by estimating in two stages; since service costs (mostly labor) are predicted to vary systematically with wages across countries, I first regress each of the two nontraded prices (in dollars) on income and income squared per worker (also in dollars) derived from Summers and Heston. The predicted values of these prices are now independent of the error term, and can be used to estimate $a_1 - \bar{a}$ in equation 10.

3.2 comparing price distortion between countries with different incomes

. . .

While it is not likely that the average level of distortion ϵ_j greatly affects income per capita, if countries with low income levels are more likely to have high average distortion levels, then using income per worker as an instrument for nontraded prices may bias estimates of $a_i - \bar{a}$. Erzan et al find that in 1985 average tariffs were between 50 and 66 percent for countries with GDP per capita less then \$500 and between 3 and 5 percent for countries with GDP per capita greater than \$5000. NTB's coverage ratios were found to be highest among middle income countries⁵.

If indeed low and middle income countries have higher average distortion levels than upper income countries⁶, then the measured distortions in low and middle income countries will understate the true price distortions, and estimates of $a_t - \bar{a}$ will be biased.

The importance of this bias in comparing price distortions for two countries will increase with the difference in the countries' income levels. Let ϵ_{ij} be the estimated error $\epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j}$, let $\hat{\beta_i}$ be the estimated $a_i - \bar{a}$ and β_0 be the true $a_i - \bar{a}$. Comparisons of the relative distortion for good *i* between countries *j* and *k* can be expressed as the difference

$$\epsilon_{ij} - \epsilon_{ik} = [(\epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j}) - (\epsilon_{ik} - \bar{\epsilon_k})] - (\hat{\beta} - \beta_0)(y_j - y_k)$$
(11)

where y_j is the nontraded price predicted by per capita income in country j and y_k is the same in country k. According to equation 11, the estimated difference between two countries of price distortion equals the true difference plus a bias which increases with the difference in nontraded

⁵ Average tariff levels understate the importance of trade barriers in developed countries: tariffs are among the least important barriers to trade within the EC, next to administrative barriers, technical regulations, and frontier delays (see Emerson et al. 1988)

⁶Unless the higher average distortion ϵ_j is caused by uniformly higher distortions ϵ_i , for all goods, leaving $\epsilon_{ij} - \epsilon_j$ constant (see above). Ezran et al (1987), for example, found that for developing countries average tariff levels were roughly the same for food and for manufactures.

prices predicted by income. While estimated price distortions in Paraguay may be comparable with estimated price distortions in Peru, caution should be used in comparing these estimated price distortions with those of Denmark. For this reason, comparisons are made within three broad income categories. As a further precaution, price dispersion was measured both over the entire sample of countries, and over a restricted sample which only considers countries in the high and middle income groups (eliminating India and most of Africa).

3.3 estimation

Since population density and urbanization are likely inputs in the distribution of goods and may affect relative prices, I include these variables in the price regressions. As indicated in equation 10, changes in the exchange rate can influence relative prices if nontraded prices are sticky. To control for this I include the log of the exchange rate in the year 1980 (the year of the ICP sample) minus the log of the average exchange rate over the previous ten years (defined as ex_rate_j).

Deviations from world production prices are estimated using the following equation for each good i

$$\rho_{ij} = A_i + \beta_1 rent_{\hat{p}_j} + \beta_2 service_{\hat{p}_j} + \beta_3 \log urban_j + \beta_4 \log density_j + \beta_5 ex_rate_j + \eta_{ij}$$
(12)

where $rent_{\hat{p}_j}$ is the log rent price predicted by log income per worker, $service_{\hat{p}_j}$ is the log service and construction price predicted by log income per worker, and ex_rate_j is described above. I use the residual $\dot{\eta}_{ij}$ from the estimation of equation 12 as an estimate of $\epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon_j}$, the deviation of the relative price of good *i* in country *j* from the world relative price.

3.4 relative price estimation results

The results of the estimation of equation 12 on the restricted sample (low income countries excluded) are given in table 2. Including Low income countries reduces the percentage variation of relative prices explained by the dependent variables, but does not change the magnitude of the coefficients significantly. High nontraded goods prices substantially increase the price of consumer nondurables relative to capital goods and consumer durables; a 1 percent increase in service prices increases the *relative* price of clothing by 0.7 percent while decreasing the *relative* price of electrical equipment by 0.95 percent. This suggests the distribution of consumer nondurables is much more labor intensive than the distribution of capital goods. Capital goods are also relatively cheaper in areas of high population density, a result suggesting lower distribution costs in these areas.

High rent prices have a tendency to decrease prices for capital and consumer nondurable goods relative to consumer durables, but the effects are not uniform across all goods; the effect of rent prices may reflect higher inventory requirements in the distribution of consumer durables. A temporary depreciation of the exchange rate lowers the price of consumer nondurables relative to consumer durables and capital goods. This is the predicted response if exchange rate changes pass through to prices more slowly for capital and consumer durable goods, where products are more likely to be differentiated.

4 Computing Relative Price Dispersion

As indicated above, the residual from the estimation of equation 12 for good i represents the deviation of the relative price of good i for country j from the world relative price. To derive a single measure (V_j) of the degree to which relative prices in country j differ from world prices, I

Table 2: Explaining Differences in Relative Prices Across Countries

 $\rho_{ij} = A_i + \beta_1 rent_{\hat{p}_j} + \beta_2 service_{\hat{p}_j} + \beta_3 \log urban_j + \beta_4 \log density_j + \beta_5 er_rate_j + \eta_{ij}$

 ρ_{ij} is the log price of traded good *i* in country *j* relative to the expenditure weighted sum of all traded prices in country *j*, minus the same relative price of good *i* in the United States. Independent variables are explained in the text describing equation 12.

Good	Coefficient	on the Inc	dependent Var	iable		r-squared
	service_p,	rent_p,	log density;	log urban;	ex_rate,	
Food	0.31	-0.20	0.006	0.037	0.34	0.41
	(2.1)	(1.1)	(0.4)	(0.6)	(2.0)	
Tobacco & Beverage	-0.075	0.112	0.008	-0.182	0.16	0.17
	(0.2)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(1.5)	(0.4)	
Clothing	0.72	-0.28	-0.08	-0.04	-0.07	0.43
	(3.0)	(0.9)	(3.0)	(0.3)	(0.2)	
Fuel	0.70	-0.50	0.106	0.047	0.007	0.16
	(1.0)	(0.6)	(1.4)	(0.2)	(0.0)	
Household	0.56	-0.14	0.006	-0.200	0.52	0.16
	(1.8)	(0.4)	(0.2)	(1.5)	(1.4)	
Appliance	-0.31	0.54	0.077	-0.218	-0.29	0.24
	(0.8)	(1.2)	(1.9)	(1.3)	(0.7)	
Autos	-1.04	2.08	0.034	-0.003	-0.20	0.32
	(2.1)	(3.2)	(0.7)	(0.0)	(0.4)	
Auto Parts	-0.644	0.934	0.049	0.153	-0.408	0.16
	(2.0)	(2.3)	(1.4)	(1.1)	(1.1)	
Recreate-Durable	-0.50	0.030	-0.074	0.147	-0.190	0.19
	(1.4)	(0.1)	(1.9)	(0.9)	(1.4)	
Recreate-Nondur	0.441	-0.224	-0.078	-0.087	0.62	0.14
	(1.2)	(0.5)	(1.9)	(0.5)	(1.4)	
Other	-0.517	1.08	-0.021	0.087	0.071	0.19
	(1.7)	(2.8)	(0.7)	(0.7)	(0.2)	
Government	0.271	-0.047	-0.012	0.036	-0.018	0.31
	(1.5)	(0.2)	(0.6)	(0.9)	(0.1)	
Transportation	-0.598	-0.528	-0.054	0.086	-0.85	0.40
	(1.6)	(1.2)	(1.4)	(0.6)	(2.0)	
Machines	-0.137	-0.927	-0.014	0.095	-0.216	0.48
	(0.6)	(3.3)	(0.6)	(1.0)	(0.8)	
Agricult. Mach.	-0.215	-0.350	-0.162	-0.152	-1.00	0.40
	(0.6)	(0.6)	(3.5)	(0.8)	(2.0)	
Elec. Equipment	-0.953	0.192	0.023	0.286	-0.905	0.28
	(2.7)	(0.4)	(0.6)	(1.9)	(1.8)	

t-statistics in parentheses

Coefficients from estimation on the restricted sample

square the deviations for each good i and country j and sum the magnitudes across all goods

$$V_j = \sum_i \alpha_{ij} \dot{\eta}_{ij}^2 = \sum_i \alpha_{ij} (\epsilon_{ij} - \bar{\epsilon}_j)^2$$
(13)

where α_{ij} is the expenditure share predicted by a cross country regression of expenditure on income and income squared⁷. The index V_j represents the degree to which *relative* prices in country *j* differ from world *relative* prices.

4.1 relative price dispersion across countries

Country rankings of intervention according to the price dispersion measure are listed in table 3 by income category. The dispersion categories in the table 3 are defined such that a country in the "low dispersion" category, for example, has a dispersion which is low *relative* to those in its income category. Among the middle income countries with high dispersion are Sri Lanka, Bolivia, and Portugal. Low dispersion economies include Pakistan, the Dominican Republic, and Costa Rica. In the high income group, Japan, Israel, and Spain have high dispersion, while Austria and Italy have relatively low dispersion. For the low income countries, Nigeria, Zambia, and India are high, while Madagascar and Kenya are low.

The results listed in table 3 are separated by income categories for reasons given in section 3.2: the bias in comparing dispersion in different countries increases with the difference in the countries' income per capita (see equation 11). The numbers given are the calculated index values V_j , and represent the variance across goods of differences in relative prices from world relative prices; for

⁷Actual expenditure shares were also used. Peru and Portugal show somewhat less price dispersion if their actual expenditure shares are used. An index was also calculated using the sum of the *absolute values* of the residuals. The resulting index was highly correlated 0.96% raw, 94% rank) with the sum of the squares of the residuals.

Table 3: Relative Price Dispersion Within Income Categories

$$V_j = \sum_i \alpha_{ij} \hat{\eta}_{ij}^2$$

Middle Income Countries

Low		Medium Low		Medium High		High	
Panama	0.0372	Korea	0.0496	Guatemala	0.0606	Sri Lanka	0.102
Argentina	0.0358	Greece	0.0460	Peru	0.0600	Bolivia	0.0863
Paraguay	0.0325	Columbia	0.0418	Chile	0.0555	Portugal	0.0828
Dominican Rep.	0.0323	El Salvador	0.0416	Brazil	0.0546	Indonesia	0.0797
Costa Rica	0.0296	Ireland	0.0386	Ecuador	0.0530	Honduras	0.0749
Pakistan	0.0251	Venezuela	0.0374	Philippines	0.0522	Uruguay	0.0608
	1	Morocco*	0.0164	Tunisia*	0.0704	Botswana*	0.1246
Upper Income Co	ountries	<u> </u>					
Belgium	0.0164	Norway	0.0218	Finland	0.0439	Japan	0.1368
France	0.0134	Luxembourg	0.0197	Canada	0.0358	Israel	0.1119
Italy	0.0119	Germany	0.0189	United Kingdom	0.0319	Spain	0.0554
Austria	0.0050	Netherlands	0.0168	Denmark	0.0271		
Lower Income Co	untries*						
Mali	0.0250	Senegal	0.0317	Cameroon	0.0541	Nigeria	0.0947
Kenya	0.0211	Zimbabwe	0.0288	Ethiopia	0.0503	Zambia	0.0785
Madagascar	0.0184	Ivory Coast	0.0286	Malawi	0.0378	India	0.0670
-						Tanzania	0.0658

Intensities of price dispersion are defined within each income category

* Based on index estimated over unrestricted sample

example Brazil, showing "medium high" dispersion in the middle income sample, has a variance of relative prices equal to 5.5 percent of the mean relative price.

The results for the middle and upper income groups were estimated using the restricted sample, in which the low income countries were not included⁸. Including low income countries does not change the hierarchy much for the upper income countries, but changes the hierarchy considerably for the middle income countries. Capital goods prices are relatively low for low and high income groups, and relatively high for middle income groups. The predicted relative price of capital declines with income in the restricted sample. Including low income groups in the estimation flattens the price-income relationship. Since almost all middle income countries have high capital prices, relatively poor countries within the middle income group show more price dispersion in the unrestricted sample; particularly Honduras, Indonesia, Pakistan, and Bolivia (the estimation results for the unrestricted sample are also given in the appendix).

Within middle income countries, Asia is slightly more interventionist than Latin America; Asia has a median dispersion index of 0.051 versus Latin America with a median of 0.047. Perhaps more significant is the high variance of dispersion measures across Asia (Japan and Sri Lanka with very high dispersion, Pakistan with very low dispersion), while the variance in Latin America is relatively low.

⁸The rankings in table 3 for Botswana. Morocco, and Tunisia are based on estimation over the unrestricted sample. The countries' rankings are preserved if grouped with their African peers in the low income category. Botswana and Tunisia show high dispersion, and Morocco shows low dispersion

Canada is considerably more distorted when estimated using the unrestricted sample. This is primarily caused by a stronger estimated effect of exchange rate appreciation in the unrestricted estimation, combined with Canada having a significantly more depreciated exchange rate in 1980 than in previous years

4.2 equipment price distortions

Whether a country intervenes may not be as important to growth as *how* the country intervenes. Delong and Summers (1991) have emphasized the relationship between equipment investment and growth, arguing that a one percent increase in equipment investment increases growth by one third of one percent. Intervention which subsidizes prices of capital goods in general or equipment in particular would encourage this type of investment. Subsidies of capital input is hay also encourage production and export growth of manufactures which use these inputs.

The relative price regressions estimating equation 12 allow cross-country comparisons of equipment price distortions from the world relative equipment price. Equipment price distortions are defined

$$D_{j} = \sum_{k} \alpha_{jk} \dot{\eta}_{jk}$$
(14)

where k indexes equipment goods (machines, agricultural machines, and electrical equipment), α_{jk} is the expenditure share for each good, and $\hat{\eta}_{jk}$ is the residual from regression in equation 12. Equipment price distortions can be used as measures of the relative incentives to engage in equipment investment: unusually high relative prices would discourage investment in equipment. Categorizations by relative price dispersion and equipment price distortion are listed in table 4, and equipment price distortion measures are given in the appendix. Relative equipment price distortions vary substantially across countries within each income category: Korea, for example shows high intervention and relative equipment prices 5.3 percent below the predicted level, while Peru, having comparable levels of intervention, shows relative equipment prices 2.2 percent above the predicted level.

Within middle income countries. Asia has significantly lower median equipment prices than Latin America, although the variance of relative equipment prices is much higher in Asia mostly Table 4: Relative Equipment Prices and Relative Price Dispersion Within Income Categories

.....

$$D_j = \sum_k \alpha_{jk} \hat{\eta}_{jk}$$

Relative	Relative Price Dispersion					
Equipment Price	Low		Medium		High	
Low	Pakistan	-0.0057	Greece	-0.0214	Bolivia	-0.0070
	Ireland	-0.0094	Korea	-0.0526	Honduras	-0.0187
	Botswana*	-0.1177			Portuga!	-0.0223
					Indonesia	-0.0251
Medium	Costa Rica	0.0072	Brazil	0.0102	Uruguay	-0.0053
	Panama	-0.0022	El Salvador	0.0019		
	Paraguay	-0.0032	Philippines	-0.0044		
	Venezuela	-0.0037	Tunisia*	-0.0010		
			Morocco*	0.0050		
High	Argentina	0.0249	Columbia	0.0320	Sri Lanka	0.0530
	Dominican Rep.	0.0228	Chile	0.0295	Peru	0.0223
			Ecuador	0.0162	Guatemala	0.0197
Upper Income Co	untries		<u></u>			
Low			Norway	-0.0238	Finland	-0.0238
			Denmark	-0.0296	Israel	-0.0352
					Japan	-0.0483
Medium	Italy	0.0090	Luxembourg	0.0140	United Kingdom	0.0075
	Austria	0.0083			Canada	-0.0214
High	France	0.0211	Netherlands	0.0275	Spain	0.0150
	Belgium	0.0172	Germany	0.0144		
Lower Income Cou	intries*					
Low	Zimbabwe	-0.0218			Tanzania	-0.0289
					Nigeria	-0.0334
					Zambia	-0.0603
Medium	Kenya	-0.0089	Cameroon	0.0075		
			Ivory Coast	0.0065		
			Ethiopia	-0.0007		
			Malawi	-0.0053		
High	Mali	0.0401	Senegal	0.0117	India	0.0106
-	Madagascar	0.0320				

Middle Income Countries

-

equipment price distortions defined within income categories

* Based on estimation over the unrestricted sample

because of high prices in Sri Lanka and Philippines and low prices in Korea, Japan, Pakistan, and Indonesia⁹.

5 Comparing Relative Price Dispersion and Measures of Outward Orientation

Combining intervention (the d stortion of trade patterns) and outward orientation (the incentives to produce for export relative to import substitution) into a single measure of trade policy is often justified on the grounds that intervention in the form of import restrictions taxes exports, biasing incentives toward the production of import substitutes; import restrictions shift resources towards the import production, raising the prices of nontraded goods relative to the prices of exports, which are generally determined by world supply and demand (see appendix). Export producers now face higher input and labor costs. If there are no export subsidies to offset the anti-export bias of the import restrictions, then intervention will produce an inwardly oriented trade regime.

5.1 trade intensity and relative price dispersion

Outward orientation is usually measured as the ratio of trade to GDP (see equations 1 and 2); a higher share is thought to indicate an outwardly oriented regime. Often trade share is adjusted by using the portion of trade not predicted by "structural" factors such as income levels, area, and population (equation 3). A third measure is Leamer's measure of openness, which equates openness with the share of trade not predicted by differences in factor endowments. Negative correlations of

τ٠.

н. _с.

⁹The rankings in table 4 for Botswana. Morocco, and Tunisia are based on estimation over the unrestricted sample. Again, the countries' rankings are preserved if grouped with their African peers in the low income category: Botswana shows low equipment prices, while Tunisia and Morocco show medium equipment prices.

 Table 5: Rank Correlations between Relative Price Dispersion and Common Measures of Trade

 Regime

		Income	Catego	ry
	Measure	Middle	High	Low
Openness	Trade Share	18	-7	-20
Measures*	Adjusted Trade Share	37	-28	-9
	Leamer Openness	-24	-14	-
Intervention	Average Tariff	-43	-	-3
Measures	NTB Coverage	13	-	4
	Dollar (1990) Measure	-17	56	39
	Price Level	-24	-10	13
	Leamer (GDP)	-1	6	-
	Leamer (Trade Share)	-60	-33	-
	Leamer (R-squared)	-40	12	-

* A negative relationship indicates high price

dispersion is associated with low trade share

price dispersion with these measures would suggest that in general outward oriented economies are more liberal.

The rank correlations listed in Table 5 reveal the relationship to be more complex. While the three measures of openness correspond to low levels of price dispersion for high and low income countries, the relationship is rather weak. With the exception of the Learner measure, the relationship is reversed in the case of middle income countries; economies with more relative price dispersion show higher trade shares than liberal economies. The difference between the Learner index and the other trade shares is to be expected, given that the Learner index is more highly correlated with the raw trade share than with the "adjusted" trade share.

5.2 distortions in the price level and relative price dispersion

Comparisons with other measures of outward orientation confirm these results. As mentioned above, increases in import restrictions can raise the price of import substituting goods and of nontraded goods, biasing production against exports (see appendix). These price increases will be reflected in

the price level, converted into dollars at the nominal exchange rate. Comparisons of the price level, adjusted for "structural" differences in nontraded goods prices, can be used to construct indices of outward orientation, with a lower price level indicating a more outward economy¹⁰.

Comparisons of price dispersion with price-based openness measures also suggest that for middle income countries, economies with more relative price dispersion have *lowe*: price levels. Two pricebased measures of orientation were used: David Dollar's (1991) measure based on a sample of 95 developing countries over the period 1976-1985, and a measure drawn from a broader sample including developed economies from 1965-1985. Both measures, listed in Table 5, confirm the earlier result that interventionist middle income countries are also relatively more outward oriented. Again, low and high income countries show the opposite result; high intervention implies relative inward orientation.

Table 6 plots relative price dispersion against the ten year average of price overvaluation¹¹. No clear pattern emerges, as expected given the correlations described above. The table does help to clear up some anomalies; Both Sri Lanka and Peru have very low price levels, for example, causing them to be considered outward oriented. But they are definitely not liberal; they have the highest measures of price dispersion among the middle income countries.

5.3 World Bank Measure of Outward Orientation

If outward orientation is not correlated for middle income countries with trade intervention as measured by relative price dispersion, then what is to be made of taxonomies of trade regime

¹⁰Such measures are subject to move with fluctuations in the nominal exchange rate caused by macroeconomic policies. Some attempt is made to dispet the measure of nominal exchange rate changes by averaging the measure over a period of several years (see Dollar, 1990).

¹¹The average of the previous ten years is highly correlated with the value for 1980. Some countries had 1980 prices significantly higher or lower than their ten year averages (see Table 6).

Table 6: Price Level (Adjusted Ten Year Average) and Relative Price Dispersion Within Income Categories

wildule mco	Relative Price Disne	reion	<u></u>
Price Level	Low	Medium	High
Low	Pakistan	Philippians	Uruguay ²¹
		Ecuador	Peru-17
		Chile	Sri Lanka ⁻¹⁹
		Columbia	
Medium	Costa Rica	Brazil ⁻¹⁴	Indonesia
	Paraguay	El Salvador	Guatemala
	Argentina ⁴⁹		Bolivia
High	Ireland ¹²	Greece	Honduras ⁻¹¹
-	Venezuela	Korea	Portugal
	Dominican Rep. ⁻¹⁰		
	Panama		
Upper incom	ne Countries	*******	
Low			United Kingdom ¹⁷
			Israel
			Canada -18
			Spain
Medium	Austria	Norway	
	France	Luxembourg	
	Italy		
High	Belgium	Denmark	Japan
		Germany	Finland
		Netherlands	
Lower Incom	ie Countrie:		
Low	Mali ²²	Malawi	India
	Madagascar	Ethiopia ⁻²⁶	
Medium	Kenya	Zambia	Tanzania
	Zimbabwe	Senegal	
High	Ivory Coast	Cameroon	Nigeria ¹⁸

see equation 4 and Dollar (1990) for a description of adjustment Middle Income Countries

.

The percent deviation of 1980 price level from the ten year average is given in the superscript

which combine these aspects into a single indicator? The 1987 World Development Report (pp. 82-83) argues for the removal of all trade barriers based on links between growth and their own measure of trade policy which have been questioned by other studies (Helleiner, 1990, Singer, 1988). This measure combines orientation with the degree of intervention categorizing countries by "trade orientation". Categories range from "strongly outward oriented", characterized by very low trade controls, to "strongly inward oriented", in which the incentive structure favors production for the domestic market.

Table 7 reveals no systematic relationship between what the Report calls outward orientation and relative price dispersion; inward oriented countries show *lower* median dispersion than outward oriented countries. Korea, one of the only countries to earn the Bank's label "strongly outward oriented", has a higher level of dispersion than Argentina and the Dominican Republic, both "strongly inward oriented" countries. Perhaps unusually high price levels reflecting overvalued exchange rates in these two countries qualify them as inward oriented despite their relative lack of intervention; but Columbia, El Salvador and Pakistan, which are also classified as inward oriented, all have lower price dispersion than Korea and moderate price levels. Overall, "inward oriented" countries also have lower median price levels than "outward oriented" countries. Based on the WDR's orientation index alone, it seems that liberalization is not necessary to achieve outward orientation.

6 Comparisons of Relative Price Dispersion with other Intervention Measures

Since it is now clear that outward orientation is not systematically correlated with intervention as measured by relative price dispersion, it is worth evaluating other measures of trade regime which

Table 7: World Bank (1987) Measure of Trade Orientation and Relative Price Dispersion Within Income Categories

	Relative Price Dispersion		
World Bank Measure	Low	Medium	High
Outward Oriented		Korea*	
Moderately		Brazil	Israel
Outward Oriented		Chile $^{\Delta}$	
		Uruguay	
Moderately	Columbia∆	Guatemala	Honduras*
Inward Oriented	Costa Rica*	Philippians	Indonesia
	El Salvador		Sri Lanka∆
	Pakistan		
Inward Oriented	Argentina*∆	Peru∆	Bolivia
	Dominican•∆		

* indicates high average price level

 \triangle indicates high relative equipment prices

might approximate trade intervention more closely.

6.1 administrative measures and relative price dispersion

If average tariff measures and NTB coverage ratios characterized the effects of intervention, we might expect to see them correlated with relative price dispersion in the traded sector. They're not¹². The rank correlation between NTB coverage ratios and price dispersion is low (13% for middle income countries and 4% for low income countries; see Table 5), but at least it is positive. The same is not true for tariffs; high average tariffs are seen in countries having relatively low levels of price dispersion. This suggests that average tariff levels are a poor indicator of the effects of intervention. As Helleiner points out "moving towards neutrality (by reducing tariff)...is not evidently "liberal" if it is accompanied by increasing overall dispersion of incentives." (p.884)

¹²Although these measures are collected by UNCTAD for the year 1985, some consistency in trade policy regime over time is expected for a majority of countries.

6.2 revealed quantity measures and relative price dispersion

Leamer (1990) measures the absolute v. 'ue of cross-country deviations in trade patterns from those predicted by factor endowments in a Hecksher-Ohlin model. Trade policy intervention is expected to result in large deviations. In the absence of price controls, large distortions in trade patterns will be accompanied by deviations in relative prices from world relative prices. The price dispersion measure was compared with three of Leamer's measures of intervention: deviations relative to GDP, deviations relative to predicted trade, and the percentage of trade unexplained by differences in factor endowments (the r-squared measure).

None of the Leamer measures appear to be correlated with relative price dispersion (see Table 5). The second measure in particular is highly negatively correlated with measures of price dispersion within all income groups. The first measure, deviations relative to GDP, is only slightly positively correlated for low income countries. The r-squared measure is slightly positively correlated within the high income group, but significantly negatively correlated with intervention for the middle income group. The poor performance of these indices is not surprising; by Leamer's own admission, "the first criticism of the model is that it does not explain the trade of many countries very well."

7 Conclusion

The index of relative price dispersion developed here has the advantage that it is objective, that it measures intervention not just in imports but in exports as well, that it is comparable across countries, and is independent of exchange rate fluctuations caused by macroeconomic mismanagement. Unlike average tariffs, NTB measures, and price level measures, the relative price dispersion index measures incentive distortions within categories of goods. While the Leamer index looks directly

at the effects of trade policy intervention, the theoretical assumptions required to calculate the pattern of trade in the absence of distortion are questionable. Such assumptions are unnecessary when calculating relative price dispersion, since world prices are directly observable.

Comparisons of relative price dispersion with commonly used outward orientation measures reveal that the relationship between "openness" and trade liberalization is more complicated than is often believed. Not only is it hazardous to characterize a inward oriented countries as interventionist and outward oriented countries as liberal, but the characterization is simply wrong for developing countries.

Whether a country i...(ervenes does not tell the whole story about a country's trade policy, and misses an essential aspect of intervention: which goods are favored by subsidies and which are protected by tariffs. Indonesia and Peru, for example, have comparable measures of intervention, but the relative price of equipment is very high in Peru and very low in Indonesia; consumer nondurables appear to flow freely in Latin America, while prices for these goods in Japan and Korea are inexplicably high. Understanding differences in the growth experience of these countries clearly requires a more subtle view of trade policy than "outward" and "inward oriented", as well as a more informed understanding of the nature of intervention.

References

DeLong, B. and L. Summers (1991), "Equipment Investment and Economic Growth", Quarterly Journal of Economics, May.

Dollar, D (1990), "Outward-Oriented Developing Economies Really Do

Grow More Rapidly: Evidence from 95 LDCs, 1976-1985", Economic Development and Cultural Change.

Dornbusch, R (1981), Open Economy Macroeconomics, Basic Books Inc., New York.

Edwards, S (1989), "Openness, Outward Orientation, Trade Liberalization, and Economic Performance in Developing Countries", World Bank Working Paper 191.

Emerson, M. et al (1988) The Economics of 1992, Oxford Press.

Erzan, R., H. Kuwahara, S. Marchese, and R Vossenaar (1987) "The Profile of Protection in Developing Countries", UNCTAD Review 1.1.

Harrison, Ann (1991) World Bank Research Observer.

Helleiner, G. (1990) "Trade Strategy and Medium Term Adjustment", World Development Vol. 18, No. 6.

Kravis I, A Heston and R Summers (1978), International Comparisons of Real Product and Purchasing Power - Phase II, Johns Hopkins University Press.

Krueger, Ann (1978) Liberalization Attempts and Consequences, NBER

Leamer, E (1989) "Measures of Openness". in Baldwin (ed.), NBER

Pritchett, L (1991), "Measuring Outward Orientation in Developing Countries: Can it Be Done?". Trade Policy Division, World Bank 566.

Singer, H. (1988), "The World Development Report 1987 on the Blessings of "Outward

Orientation": A Necessary Correction", Journal of Development Studies, vol 24, No. 2.

Summers, R and A Heston (1987), "A New Set of International Comparisons of Real Product and

Price Levels Estimates for 130 Countries, 1950-1985", The Review of Income and Wealth.

United Nations (1986), World Comparisons of Purchasing Power and Real Product for 1980 -

Phase IV.

World Bank (1987), World Development Report, World Bank.

World Bank (1991), World Development Report, World Bank.

Appendix

8 Equilibrium Trade Policy Model

Common measures of outward orientation include the share of trade in GDP and the price level¹³; if a country has a low price level or a high trade share, it is considered outward oriented. These measures of outward orientation are often used to assess a country's degree of trade policy intervention, with low measures of outward orientation indicating an interventionist regime and high measures indicating a liberal regime.

I will illustrate the relationship between outward orientation and trade intervention more carefully with an Australian general equilibrium model with three goods: imports, exports, and nontraded goods¹⁴. I will be concerned with intervention which raises the *average level* of the import tariff, export subsidy, or export tax. A high trade share and a low price level are consistent with trade policy intervention in long run equilibrium (i.e. domestic full employment and balanced trade) if intervention takes the form of import tariffs. The relationship breaks down if intervention in the export sector is allowed: with a tax on exports, a low price level is consistent with *high* intervention; if exports are subsidized, high intervention can result in a *low* trade share. If export intervention is allowed, price level measures also fail as measures of outward orientation; export subsidies can lead to a *high* price level while biasing trade toward exports.

¹³Chenery, among others, uses trade share adjusted for structural cross-country differences: Dollar (1990) constructs an index of on ward orientation based on the price level, also adjusted for cross-country structural differences.

¹⁴see Dornbusch (1981) for a complete discussion of the Australian model

8.1 Production

All three goods are produced by the domestic economy with fixed capital together with labor which is mobile across sectors but in fixed supply L^* for the economy. Import goods are both produced at home and imported from the world market. Export goods are both consumed domestically and exported abroad. Labor is allocated over the three sectors such that the value of its marginal product is equal in each sector

$$(1+s) \cdot MP_X(L_X) = (1+\epsilon) \cdot MP_M(L_M) = P_N \cdot MP_N(L_N)$$
(15)

where $MP_i(L_i)$ is the (diminishing) marginal product in sector *i* as a function of labor L_i (the subscript X denotes exportables, M importables, and N nontraded goods). Since I will not be considering terms of trade effects, the world price of importables is assumed to equal the world price of exportables, which is normalized to equal one. The domestic price of imports differs from the world price by the amount of the import tariff ϵ , and the domestic price of exportables differs from the world price by the amount of the export subsidy *s*. Production in each sector is determined from equation 15 given the total labor supply L^* :

$$Q_i(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N},\frac{1+s}{P_N}) \qquad i=(N,X,M)$$
(16)

such that

$$Q_{N1}\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) < 0 \qquad \qquad Q_{N2}\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) < 0$$
$$Q_{X1}\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) < 0 \qquad \qquad Q_{X2}\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) > 0 \qquad (17)$$

$$Q_{M1}(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N},\frac{1+s}{P_N})>0 \qquad \qquad Q_{M2}(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N},\frac{1+s}{P_N})<0$$

where all goods are denominated in international currency.

8.2 Demand

Consumers value nontraded goods, importables, and exportables according to the Cobb-Douglas utility function

$$U = C_N^{\beta} C_X^{\gamma(1-\beta)} C_M^{(1-\gamma)(1-\beta)}$$
(18)

where C_i is consumption of good *i*. Consumer maximization gives the following demand functions:

$$P_N \cdot D_N = \beta E$$

$$(1+s) \cdot D_X = \gamma (1-\beta)E$$

$$(19)$$

$$(1+\epsilon) \cdot D_M = (1-\gamma)(1-\beta)E$$

where E is expenditure in dollars. From the demand functions given in equation 19 consumers choose their purchases such that expenditures remain constant for each good.

8.3 Domestic Market Equilibrium

The market for nontraded goods is always assumed to be in equilibrium (full employment is always obtained). The price of nontraded goods is determined by the interaction of supply (equation 16) and demand (equation 19) in the nontraded sector; the nontraded price is that which equilibrates demand at a given level of expenditure with supply, determined by the incentives to produce in

the nontraded sector relative to the traded sectors. The domestic market equilibrium condition is given by

$$D_N = Q_N(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N})$$
(20)

Substituting nontraded demand (equation 19) into equation 20 gives

$$P_N \cdot Q_N(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}) = \beta E$$
(21)

Equation 21 implicitly defines the expenditure and nontraded price combinations for a given level of trade intervention (ϵ and s). The characteristics of this schedule are derived using the implicit function theorem

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta E} = \frac{\beta}{Q_N - (\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N})Q_{N1} - (\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N})Q_{N2}} > 0$$
(22)

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+\epsilon)} \cdot \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N1}}{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N1} + \left(\frac{1+s}{P_N}\right)Q_{N2} - Q_N} > 0 < 1$$
(23)

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+s)} \cdot \left(\frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{1+s}{P_N}\right)Q_{N2}}{\left(\frac{1+s}{P_N}\right)Q_{N2} + \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N1} - Q_N} > 0 < 1$$
(24)

Figure 1 shows the schedule relating expenditures to nontraded goods to slope upwards, as in equation 22. An increase in expenditure causes excess demand for nontraded goods. Nontraded price rises to ration the excess demand, decreasing the quantity demanded and increasing the quantity produced.

An increase in the import tariff or an increase in export subsidy shifts the schedule upwards but by less than the amount of the change in the policy measure (equations 23 and 24). An increase in the tariff or subsidy results in excess demand for nontraded goods, as production is diverted towards the traded sector. The nontraded price increases to ration the excess demand, but the necessary price increase is less than the increase in the tariff; since the increase in the nontraded price lowers the quantity of nontraded goods demanded, less of a supply response is required to equilibrate the domestic market.

8.4 Trade Balance

Trade is assumed to balance in the long run. Trade balance is achieved when the world value of exports equals the world value of excess demand for imports

$$Q_X(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N}) - D_X = D_M - Q_M(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}, \frac{1+s}{P_N})$$
(25)

Substituting the demand functions from equation 19 into

equation 25 gives

$$Q_X - \frac{\gamma(1-\beta)}{1+s}E = \frac{(1-\gamma)(1-\beta)}{1+\epsilon}E - Q_M$$
(26)

Equation 26 gives the schedule of nontraded price-expenditure combinations which achieve trade balance comparable to equation 21 for the domestic market. The properties of this schedule are derived using the implicit function theorem

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta E} = -\frac{\frac{\gamma(1-\beta)}{1+s} + \frac{(1-\gamma)(1-\beta)}{1+\epsilon}}{(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N^2})(Q_{X1} + Q_{M1}) + (\frac{1+s}{P_N^2})(Q_{X2} + Q_{M2})} < 0$$
(27)

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+\epsilon)} \cdot \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X1}+Q_{M1})}{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X1}+Q_{M1}) + \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X2}+Q_{M2})} > 0 < 1$$
(28)

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+s)} \cdot \left(\frac{1+s}{P_N}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{1+s}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X2}+Q_{M2})}{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X1}+Q_{M1}) + \left(\frac{1+s}{P_N^2}\right)(Q_{X2}+Q_{M2})} > 0 < 1$$
(29)

By equation 27 the trade balance schedule slopes downward; an increase in expenditures reduces the trade balance by raising the demand for imports while lowering the supply of exports. The nontraded price must fall to shift demand away from tradables and supply toward tradables.

An increase in ϵ or s shifts the trade balance schedule up (equations 28 and 29); a tariff induced increase in the price of importables increases production of importables while decreasing demand, causing a trade surplus. Trade is balanced with an increase in the nontraded price, shifting production toward nontraded goods. The price increase simultaneously shifts demand away from nontraded goods towards imports, so the increase in the nontraded price required for trade balance is less than the increase in the tariff.

Equations 21 and 26 determine the unique nontraded price and expenditure level consistent with both domestic equilibrium and trade balance, shown in figure 2. An increase in ϵ or s leads to an increase in the price of nontraded goods consistent with long run equilibrium. If the real exchange rate is defined to be the world price of tradables (the expenditure weighted average of the price of importables and exportables) over the domestic price of nontradables, an increase in intervention in the form of an increase in ϵ or s leads to a sustainable appreciation of the exchange rate¹⁵.

An increase in the import tariff or export subsidy also increases the equilibrium expenditure; the upward shift in the trade balance curve exceeds the shift in the domestic equilibrium curve. Demonstrating this requires deriving the relationship between price responses of output of the three

¹⁵ An alternate definition of the real exchange rate is the *domestic* price of tradables over the nontraded price. The two definitions are identical if there are no trade barriers.

goods from the following labor demand conditions

$$\frac{dL_X}{d\epsilon} = -\left(\frac{dL_N}{d\epsilon} + \frac{dL_M}{d\epsilon}\right)$$

$$\frac{dL_X}{ds} = -\left(\frac{dL_N}{ds} + \frac{dL_M}{ds}\right)$$
(30)

Combine equations 30 and 15 with the condition that the derivative of the supply of good *i* with respect to policy measure *j* is given by $Q_{ij} = MP_i \cdot \frac{dL_i}{dp_j}$, to get the following relationships between output responses to changes in policy measures (let *s* and ϵ be zero initially)

$$Q_{X1} = -(P_N Q_{N1} + Q_{M1}) \tag{31}$$

 $Q_{X2} = -(P_N Q_{N2} + Q_{M2})$

Substituting equation 31 into the trade balance conditions (equations 28 and 29) gives

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+\epsilon)} \cdot \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N1}}{\left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N1} + \left(\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N}\right)Q_{N2}}$$
(32)

$$\frac{\delta P_N}{\delta(1+s)} \cdot (\frac{1+s}{P_N}) = \frac{(\frac{1+s}{P_N})Q_{N2}}{(\frac{1+s}{P_N})Q_{N2} + (\frac{1+\epsilon}{P_N})Q_{N1}}$$
(33)

The shift in the trade balance schedule with a shift in trade policy in equations 32 and 33 are larger than the shift in the domestic equilibrium schedule (equations 23 and 24). In fact, the change in expenditure with respect to policy measure p_i can be shown to be

$$\frac{dE}{dp_i} = Q_N \frac{dP_N}{dp_i} \tag{34}$$

The larger shift implies expenditure must increase in equilibrium in response to an increase in the import tariff or export subsidy.

9 Trade Policy Intervention and Outward Orientation

The model can be used to predict the impact of various forms of trade policy intervention on two standard measures of outward orientation: the trade as a share of total output, and the price level. A low trade share or a high price level are interpreted as indications of inward orientation.

9.1 Share of Trade in GDP

Equation 25 gives the trade balance condition for the economy. since exports equal imports in trade balance and output equals expenditures, the share of trade in output will move identically with the ratio of exports (or imports) to expenditures, defined below

$$T = \frac{Q_X - D_X}{E} \tag{35}$$

Combining equation 35 with demand in equation 19 gives

$$T = \frac{Q_X}{E} - \frac{\gamma(1-\beta)}{1+s}$$
(36)

Trade policy intervention will be correlated with outward orientation if (in the absence of export measures) increasing the import tariff ϵ lowers the trade share. The change in T with a change in the import tariff is found by differentiating equation 36 with respect to ϵ

$$\frac{dT}{d\epsilon} = \frac{dQ_X}{d\epsilon} \frac{1}{E} - \frac{dE}{d\epsilon} \frac{Q_X}{E^2}$$
(37)

Changes in ϵ affect Q_X in two ways: the direct effect of increases in ϵ on output in the export sector, and the indirect effect of changes in ϵ on the equilibrium price of nontraded goods. The net effect is given in equation 38

$$\frac{dQ_X}{d\epsilon} = \frac{1}{P_N} ((1 - \eta_\epsilon) Q_{X1} - \eta_\epsilon \frac{s}{\epsilon} Q_{X2}) \qquad < 0$$
(38)

where η_{ϵ} is derived from equations 23 and 28

$$\eta_{\epsilon} = \frac{dP_N}{d\epsilon} \cdot \left(\frac{\epsilon}{P_N}\right) > 0 < 1$$
(39)

Since $\frac{dE}{d\epsilon}$ is positive by the argument in section 8.4, the derivative $\frac{dT}{d\epsilon}$ is negative, and trade intervention results in a lower trade share and in ward orientation.

By changing relative prices between the three goods, import restrictions has production away from exportables and towards importables; the bias hurts exports, which sell at the same world price, by increasing the price export producers pay for their factor of production. Export production declines while import production increases. With a steady demand for exportables and importables, the result is a decline in trade.

The link between policy intervention and low trade share does not hold when intervention is allowed to take the form of an export subsidy. Differentiating the export share of expenditures with respect to the subsidy s gives

$$\frac{dT}{ds} = \frac{dQ_X}{ds} \left(\frac{1}{E}\right) - \frac{dE}{ds} \left(\frac{Q_X}{E^2}\right)$$
(40)

The first term in equation 40 expands to

$$\frac{dQ_X}{ds}(\frac{1}{E}) = (\frac{1}{E})((1-\eta_s)\frac{Q_{X2}}{P_N} - \frac{\epsilon}{s}\eta_s\frac{Q_{X1}}{P_N}) > 0$$
(41)

where η_s , comparable to η_e given in equation 39, is greater than zero and less than one.

Since $\frac{dE}{ds} = \frac{P_N}{s} \eta_s Q_N$ from equation 34, the second term in equation 40 can be expressed

$$\frac{dE}{ds}(\frac{Q_X}{E^2}) = \frac{1}{E}(\frac{\beta\eta_s}{s}Q_X)$$
(42)

Restating the first and second terms, equation 40 simplifies to

$$\frac{dT}{ds} = \left(\frac{Q_X}{sE}\right)\left(\frac{dQ_X}{ds} \cdot \frac{s}{Q_X} - \beta\eta_s\right)$$
(43)

Equation 43 shows that the trade share can *increase* with trade intervention in the export sector, provided the net elasticity of the export supply in response to the subsidy exceeds $\beta\eta_s$, a number between zero and one.

9.2 Price Level

Price level is often used as a measure of outward orientation, where a high price level indicates an inward oriented economy (Dollar, 1990). The model clarifies the link between trade policy intervention and outward orientation in an economy in long run equilibrium. The price level increases with intervention and outward orientation if intervention takes place in the import sector. If intervention in exports are allowed, the price level fails both as a measure of intervention and as a measure of outward orientation; the price level can decline, for example, in response to an export tax which biases trade against exports.

A price index for the economy is derived from the utility function in equation 18 to be

$$P = P_N^{\beta} (1+s)^{\gamma(1-\beta)} (1+\epsilon)^{(1-\gamma)(1-\beta)}$$
(44)

The change in the price level with a change in the import tariff is

$$\frac{dP}{d(1+\epsilon)} \cdot \left(\frac{P_N}{1+\epsilon}\right) = \beta \eta_{\epsilon} + (1-\gamma)(1-\beta) > 0$$
(45)

Equation 45 indicates that trade policy intervention in the form of import tariffs causes the price level to increase in long run equilibrium. The tariff increases import prices both directly and indirectly by increasing nontraded goods prices, the indirect effect in response to the supply shortage in the nontraded goods sector caused by increased production of importables. With import tariffs alone, a high price level indicates intervention and inward orientation.

The link between intervention and a high price level is broken if intervention takes the form of an export tax; a decline in the export subsidy will lead to a decrease in the nontraded goods price as well as a decrease in the price of exports. This low price level is sustainable in long run equilibrium with balanced trade and domestic equilibrium. The change in the price level with a change in the export tax is

$$\frac{dP}{d(1+s)} \cdot \left(\frac{P_N}{1+s}\right) = \beta \eta_s + \gamma (1-\beta) > 0$$
(46)

A positive derivative indicates an increase in the export tax (a decrease in s) will cause a decline in the price level which is consistent with long run equilibrium. Not only does the fall in the price level fail to capture intervention, but the fall coexists with a decline in the incentives to export relative to import substitute; the import price is stationary relative to a fall in the export price which exceeds the fall in the price of nontraded goods (η_s is less then one). Both the import price The price level in this case fails to reliably measure either trade policy intervention or outward orientation

In the absence of export subsides or taxes, the model justifies the use of trade share and price level as measures of both outward orientation (the incentive to produce for export relative to producing import substitutes) as well as measures of trade policy intervention. Intervention taking the form of import restrictions will bias production against exports, reduce trade as a share of income, and increase the price level.

The model's predictions of the impact of import restrictions differ if intervention causes export prices to deviate from world prices. An export subsidy can raise the share of trade to GDP, even in long run equilibrium; the subsidy could be large enough to offset the impact of a tariff on the trade share, causing a country to be considered outward oriented while maintaining a high level of intervention. An export tax can be used to offset the impact of an import tariff on the price level, both by decreasing the price of exportables directly, and by lowering the nontraded goods price by increasing the excess supply of goods in the nontraded sector. If price level were used to measure trade policy, a country with an export tax having a low price level would be wrongly considered liberal and outward oriented. Table 8: Relative Price Dispersion Estimates for the Restricted Sample

$$V_j = \sum_i \alpha_{ij} \hat{\eta}_{ij}^2$$

The variable $\hat{\eta}_{ij}$ is the residual from the estimation of equation 10. All variables are explained in the text describing equation 13.

Rank	Country	Dispersion
1	Austria	0.00495
2	Italy	0.0118
3	France	0.01340
4	Belgium	0.01640
5	Netherlands	0.01684
6	Germany	0.01893
7	Luxembourg	0.01971
8	Norway	0.02178
9	Pakistan	0.02507
10	Denmark	0.0271
11	Costa Rica	0.0296
12	United Kingdom	0.0319
13	Dominican Republic	0.0323
14	Paraguay	0.03247
15	Argentina	0.03582
16	Canada	0.03584
17	Panama	0.03724
18	Venezuela	0.03735
19	Ireland	0.03857
20	El Salvador	0.04157
21	Colombia	0.04182
22	Finland	0.04390
23	Greece	0.0460
24	Korea	0.04961
25	Philippines	0.0521
26	Ecuador	0.05301
27	Brazil	0.05458
28	Spain	0.05538
29	Chile	0.05552
30	Peru	0.06002
31	Guatemala	0.06058
32	Uruguay	0.06078
33	Honduras	0.07488
34	Indonesia	0.07968
35	Portugal	0.08282
36	Bolivia	0.08637
37	Sri Lanka	0.1021
38	Israel	0.1118
39	Japan	0.1368

Table 9: Relative Price Dispersion Estimates for the Unrestricted Sample

$$V_j = \sum_i lpha_{ij} \hat{\eta}_{ij}^2$$

	Rank	Country	Dispersion
1		Austria	0.00587
	2	Belgium	0.01027
	3	Italy	0.01035
	4	France	0.01073
	5	Netherlands	0.01530
	6	Morocco	0.01637
	7	Germany	0.01667
	8	Luxembourg	0.01686
	9	Madagascar	0.01843
	10	Kenya	0.02111
	11	Norway	0.02163
	12	Pakistan	0.02200
	13	Mali	0.02504
	14	Ivory Coast	0.02863
	15	Canada	0.02871
	16	Zimbabwe	0.02882
	17	United Kingdom	0.03006
	18	Senegal	0.03169
	19	Dominican Rep	0.03210
	20	Denmark	0.03287
	21	Uruguay	0.03465
	22	Panama	0.03631
	23	Costa Rica	0.03746
	24	Malawi	0.03784
	25	Finland	0.03891
	26	El Salvador	0.04023
	27	Paraguay	0.04184
	28	Argentina	0.04244
	29	Spain	0.04320
	30	Ireland	0.04324
	31	Greece	0.04757
	32	Ethiopia	0.05030
	33	Ecuador	0.05194
	34	Brazil	0.05389
	35	Cameroon	0.05406
	36	Colombia	0.06131
	37	Korea	0.06195
	38	Honduras	0.06266

The variable $\hat{\eta}_{ij}$ is the residual from the estimation of equation 10. All variables are explained in the text describing equation 13.

Rank	Country	Dispersion
39	Philippines	0.06380
40	Portugal	0.06544
41	Tanzania	0.06579
42	Chile	0.06652
43	India	0.06701
44	Tunisia	0.07040
45	Peru	0.07475
46	Zambia	0.07854
47	Guatemala	0.08147
48	Indonesia	0.08371
49	Nigeria	0.09466
50	Israel	0.09659
51	Venezuela	0.1050
52	Japan	0.11737
53	Bolivia	0.12348
54	Botswana	0.12463
55	Sri Lanka	0.17082

Table 10: Relative Price Dispersion Estimates for the Unrestricted Sample (Continued)

-

Table 11: Equipment Price Distortion Estimates

$$V_j = \sum_i lpha_{ij} \hat{\eta}_{ij}^2$$

	Rank	Country	Dispersion
	1	Botswana	-0.11770
	2	Zambia	-0.06031
	3	Korea	-0.05260
	4	Japan	-0.04826
	5	Israel	-0.03521
	6	Nigeria	-0.03335
	7	Denmark	-0.0296
	8	Tanzania	-0.02890
	9	Indonesia	-0.02511
	10	Finland	-0.02382
	11	Norway	-0.02382
	12	Portugal	-0.02227
	13	Zimbabwe	-0.02178
	14	Canada	-0.02144
	15	Greece	-0.02139
	16	Honduras	-0.01867
	17	Ireland	-0.00937
	18	Kenya	-0.00888
	19	Bolivia	-0.0069
	20	Pakistan	-0.0057
	21	Malawi	-0.00529
	22	Uruguay	-0.00525
	23	Philippines	-0.00440
	24	Venezuela	-0.00368
	25	Paraguay	-0.00321
	26	Panama	-0.00219
	27	Tunisia	-0.00102
	28	Ethiopia	-0.00074
	29	El Salvador	0.00185
	30	Morocco	0.00499
	31	Ivory Coast	0.00650
	32	Costa Rica	0.00715
Î	33	United Kingdom	0.00752
	34	Cameroon	0.00763
	35	Austria	0.00832
	36	Italy	0.00904
	37	Brazil	0.01019
	38	India	0.01064
	39	Senegal	0.01171

The variable $\hat{\eta}_{ij}$ is the residual from the estimation of equation 10. All variables are explained in the text describing equation 13.

Rank	Country	Dispersion
40	Luxembourg	0.01400
41	Germany	0.01435
42	Spain	0.01503
43	Ecuador	0.01621
44	Belgium	0.01723
45	Guatemala	0.01972
46	France	0.02109
47	Peru	0.02234
48	Dominican Rep	0.02275
49	Argentina	0.02492
50	Netherlands	0.02754
51	Chile	0.02951
52	Colombia	0.0320
53	Madagascar	0.03203
54	Mali	0.04006
55	Sri Lanka	00.05301

Table 12: Equipment Price Distortion Estimates (Continued)

-

Policy Research Working Paper Series

	Title	Author	Date	Contact for paper
WPS814	Finance, Growth, and Public Policy	Mark Gertler Andrew Rose	December 1991	W. Pitayatonakarn 37666
WPS815	Governance and Economy: A Review	Deborah Brautigam	December 1991	Z. Kranzer 37494
WPS816	Economic Consequences of German Reunification: 12 Months After the Big Bang	Gerhard Pohl	December 1991	CECSE 37188
WPS817	How Does Brady-Type Commercial Debt Restructuring Work?	Mohua Mukherjee	December 1991	Y. Arellano 31379
WPS818	Do Rules Control Power? GATT Articles and Arrangements in the Uruguay Round	J. Michael Finger Sumana Dhar	January 1992	N. Artis 37947
WPS819	Financial Indicators and Growth in a Cross Section of Countries	Robert G. King Ross Levine	January 1992	W. Pitayatonakarn 37666
WPS820	Taxation in Decentralizing Socialist Economies: The Case of China	Christopher Heady Pradeep K. Mitra	January 1992	D. Sebastian 80423
WPS821	Wages and Unemployment in Poland: Recent Developments and Policy Issues	Fabrizio Coricelli Ana Revenga	January 1992	V. Berthelmes 39175
WPS822	Paternalism and the Alleviation of Poverty	Nancy Jesurun-Clements	January 1992	F. Betancourt I8-126
WPS823	How Private Enterprise Organized Agricultural Markets in Kenya	Steven M. Jaffee	January 1992	C. Spooner 30464
WPS824	Back-of-the-Envelope Estimates of Environmental Damage Costs in Mexico	Sergio Margulis	January 1992	J. Arevalo 30745
WPS825	The Empty Opportunity: Local Control of Secondary Schools and Student Achievement in the Philippines	Marlaine E. Lockheed Qinghua Zhao	January 1992	D. Eugene 33678
WPS826	Do Workers in the Informal Sector Benefit from Cuts in the Minimum Wage?	Ariel Fiszbein	January 1992	N. Perez 31947
WPS827	Free Trade Agreements with the United States: What's In It for Latin America?	Refik Erzan Alexander Yeats	January 1992	J. Jacobson 33710

Policy Research Working Paper Series

	Title	Author	Date	Contact for paper
WPS828	How the Macroeconomic Environment Affects Human Resource Development	Arvil Van Adams Robert Goldfarb Terence Kelly	January 1992	V. Charles 33651
WPS829	Regulation of Securities Markets: Some Recent Trends and Their Implications for Emerging Markets	Terry M. Chuppe Michael Atkin	January 1992	F. Harbottle 39616
WPS830	Fixed Parity of the Exchange Rate and Economic Performance in the CFA Zone: A Comparative Study	Ibrahim Elbadawi Nader Majd	January 1992	V. Barthelmes 39175
WPS831	Real Overvaluation, Terms of Trade Shocks, and the Cost to Agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa	Ibrahim Elbadawi	January 1992	V. Barthelmes 39175
WPS832	Sustainability and the Economics of Assuring Assets for Future Generations	Richard B. Norgaard	January 1992	J. Shin Yang 81418
WPS833	Stabilization and Growth Recovery in Mexico: Lessons and Dilemmas	Daniel F. Oks	January 1992	L. Franchini 38835
WPS834	Scenarios for Growth in the 1990s	Shahrokh Fardoust Jian-Ping Zhou	January 1992	J. Queen 33740
WPS835	Commodity Stabilization Funds	Patricio Arrau Stijn Claessens	January 1992	S. King-Watson 31047
WPS836	Sources of Income Inequality in Rural Pakistan: A Decomposition Analysis	Richard H. Adams, Jr. Harold Alderman	January 1992	C. Spooner 30464
WPS837	Manpower Planning in a Market Economy with Labor Market Signals	Arvil Van Adams John Middleton Adrian Ziderman	January 1992	S. Khan 33651
WPS838	Measuring Trade Policy Intervention: A Cross-Country Index of Relative Price Dispersion	Brían J. Aitken	January 1992	R. Martin 39065
WPS839	Regional Integration Under VERs: When Trade Diversion is Unambiguous Beneficial	David G. Tarr ly	January 1992	D. Ballantyne 37947